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WOLFRAMARNOLD, ERIKFROESE,
TRACYHAWKINS, JOSEPHKILLIAN,

LAURACHANPYTLARZ, and ANDREW

SCHLAIKJER,

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT

FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE

V.

Plaintiffs,

X CORP . f /k / a TWITTER , INC., X

HOLDINGS CORP. f/ k /a X HOLDINGS I ,
INC. and ELON MUSK ,

1 .

Defendants.

COMPLAINT

C.A.No. 1 : 23

PlaintiffsWolfram Arnold ( Arnold ),Erik Froese ( Froese ), Tracy Hawkins

( Hawkins ),Joseph Killian ( Killian ), Laura Chan Pytlarz (“ Pytlarz ), and Andrew Schlaikjer

( Schlaikjer ),by and through their undersigned counsel,bring this complaint for compensatory,

punitive,and other damages, specific performance,civil penalties,and declaratory relief,against

Defendants,X Corp. f/k/a Twitter Inc. ( Twitter ),X Holdings Corp. f/k/a X Holdings I, Inc.

( X Holdings ),and Elon Musk ( Musk ).

INTRODUCTION

Jury TrialDemanded

Plaintiffs are each long-time former employeesof Twitter ( colloquially and

hereinafter referred to as Tweeps ),who collectively have more than 60 years ofexperience

working for the company, and who were fired or constructively discharged by Twitter in the

aftermath ofMusk's acquisition ofthe company.
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2. As one might expect given their long service, some ofthe Plaintiffs were

relatively senior with titles like Vice President or Global Lead at the time their

employment with Twitter ended.

3. And due to that seniority , some ofthem were in the room where ithappened

after Musk's takeover of Twitter,privy to and participants in high-level discussions and

deliberations among Twitter's new leadership after the merger.

Led by Musk and the cadres ofsycophantswho were internally referred to as the

transition team, Twitter's new leadership deliberately, specifically, and repeatedly announced

their intentionsto breach contracts, violate laws, andotherwise ignoretheir legalobligations.

5. And they put those words into action. Plaintiff Killian was forced to resign from

Twitter after being repeatedly and specifically directed to violate California's building codes in

ways that potentially put Tweep lives at risk in building the Twitter Hotel rooms Musk

wanted for Tweeps he would be pushing to work through the night. Plaintiff Hawkins was forced

to resign after Musk and his transition team fundamentally changed the nature ofher job and

threatened her professional reputation by directing Twitter to breach its leases and, essentially ,

steal space from its landlords .

6. Elon doesn't pay rent, one member of the transition team told Hawkins.

Another member of the transition team put it more bluntly to Killian: Elon told me he would

only pay rent over his dead body.

7. Both Killian and Hawkins were told that for Musk, the fact that Twitter was

legally or contractually obligated to pay a particular sum would be irrelevant to the decision of

whether to actually pay it when that amount came due that Musk operated on a zero cost

4 .
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basis andthat Twitter would therefore simply decide afresh, for each significantexpense,

whether or not itwanted to pay whatitowed.

8. And Arnold,Froese,Pytlarz,and Schlaikjer learned that inthe bluntest way

possible.Musk's Twitter fired them after the acquisition,and then flatly refusedto pay them

their contractually required severance. This was severance that Twitter and Musk had in order

to induce Tweeps to stay throughthe close of the merger promisedwould be paid ifMusk

conducted a layoff,and which Twitterand X HoldingsI had bound themselves to pay underthe

terms of the Merger Agreement.

Indeed,it is clear that neither Musk nor X Holdings I ever intended to comply

with that obligation .As to employee obligations specifically , Musk proceeded in line with the

principle on which he generally operates : that keeping his contractual promises is optional .Musk

went so far as to insist publicly that Tweeps he fired are not entitled to any severance at all

beyond WARN Act notice.In hindsight , it appears that he also inserted a legally ineffective,

specific no third-party beneficiaries " clause in the Merger Agreement's provisions relating to

severance in a failed attempt to prevent Tweeps from enforcing those provisions .
10. Plaintiffs bringthis action for a declaratory judgment that the Merger Agreement ,

and the related but independent promises and representations to the Tweeps ,entitle them to the

promised severance,to recover that severance as well as punitive damages for Defendants

flagrant bad faith,to recover compensatory and punitive damages for Defendants fraud,and to

seek redress for Twitter's violations of the federal WARN,California WARN and New York

WARN Acts and federal and state family leave laws,and the myriad California Labor Code

violations inwhich Twitter engaged.

9 .

1
Definedbelow.
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11. PlaintiffArnoldis a citizenofthe StateofCalifornia, residinginNorthern

California.

12. Hewas employedby Twitter from November2013 through his termination on

January 4,2023, most recently as a StaffSoftware Engineer.

13. PlaintiffFroese is a citizen of the State of New York, residing in Westchester .

He was employed by Twitter from January 2013 through his termination on

February 2,2023 , most recently as a Senior Manager , Software Engineering .

PlaintiffHawkins is a citizen of the State ofCalifornia, residingin Northern

14.

15.

California.

16. She was employedby Twitter from May2013 through her resignationon

November4,2022, most recently as VicePresident, RealEstateand Workplace.

Plaintiff Killian is a citizen of the State of California , residing Northern17.

California.

PARTIES

18. He was employed by Twitter from March 2010 through his resignation on

December 10,2022,beginning his employment with Twitter as a receptionist and being

promoted through the ranks to his final position, Lead Project Manager of Global Design and

Construction,where he was responsible for overseeing the construction and design of Twitter's

physical offices around the world.

PlaintiffPytlarzis a citizen ofthe State of Texas, residing in CentralTexas.

She was employed by Twitter from January 2013 throughJanuary 2023,most

recentlyas Twitter's Global Strategy and Operations Lead, Food andEvents.

PlaintiffSchlaikjer is a citizen of the StateofCalifornia, residing in Northern

19.

20.

21.

California.
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22. He was employed by Twitter from July 2011through January 20,2023,

beginning as an intern and rising through the ranks to become a Senior StaffMachine Learning

Engineer,and reported directly to two consecutive VPs ofConsumer Engineering. At the time of

his termination,one ofhis projects involved fulfillment of Twitter's data privacy obligations

relating to Twitter Communities, a task that the chaos at Twitter rendered effectively impossible.
23. Defendant Corp.,a Nevada corporation,is the successor to Twitter,Inc., a

Delaware corporation,by merger. Pursuant to 8 Del. C. 259,X Corp. succeeded to allof

Twitter,Inc.'s obligations upon its merger with Twitter Inc. Accordingly,since the corporate

body owing the duties that are the subject of this complaint was known as Twitter during the

relevant times,this complaint refers to Twitter rather than X Corp. On information and belief,X

Corp. is a citizenofthe States ofCalifornia and Nevada,with a principal place ofbusiness

located at 1355 Market St #900,San Francisco,CA 94103.
24. Defendant X Holdings Corp. ,a Nevada Corporation , is the successor to X

Holdings I, Inc., a Delaware corporation ,by merger . Pursuant to 8 Del. C. § 259 , X Holdings

Corp. succeeded to all ofX Holdings I,Inc.'s obligations upon its merger with X Holdings I,Inc.

Accordingly ,since the corporate body owing the duties that are the subject of this complaint was

known as X Holdings I during the relevant times,this complaint refers to X Holdings I rather

than X Holdings Corp. On information and belief, X Holdings Corp. is a citizen of the States of

California and Nevada,with a principal place ofbusiness located at 1355 Market St #900, San

Francisco,CA 94103 .

25. DefendantMuskis, on informationandbelief, a citizenofthe StateofTexas

residing in BocaChica, Texas.

5
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26. Jurisdictionofthis Court is proper under 28 U.S.C. 1331 and 29 U.S.C.

2104( a ) ( 5 ) .

27. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to the Merger Agreement's forum selection

clause and 28 U.S.C. 1391(b)(2).

28. This Court haspersonal jurisdiction over the Defendants because the Merger

Agreementcontainseachofthe Defendants ( or its predecessor's) expressconsentto jurisdiction

inthis district.

A. Overview

JURISDICTIONAND VENUE

29. This litigation arises out of Twitter's attempt to avoid paying its ex-employees the

severance itpromisedthem.

FACTUAL

closeofthat transaction.

30. Twitter made these promises many times and in many ways . Twitter made these

promises intheir initial offer letters to the plaintiffs .Twitter made this same promise explicit in

its agreement to sell the company to Musk,negotiating for a clause in the agreement that

protected its employees by ensuring that they would receive severance at least as favorable

during the post-merger period as they had under the old management . And Twitter went out of

its way to make additional promises and representations to its employees to allay their concerns

in advance of its purchase by Musk and convince them to stay employed at Twitter pending the

31. Twitter broke allthese promises, breaching its enforceable agreements with its

former employees in the process .

32. The saga surroundingthis breachoffaithbegan inlateMarch 2022, when Musk

vehemently criticized Twitter's content moderationdecisions. Shortly thereafter,Musk disclosed

6
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that hehad purchased a 9.2% stake in the company . Next,after first accepting, then declining,a

position on Twitter's Board of Directors,he announced his intention to purchase Twitter and

take itprivate.
33. April 14,2022,Musk offered to purchase Twitter at $54.20 per share.After

some back and forth,on April 25, 2022,Twitter's Board ofDirectors announced that it hadvoted

to approve the sale.Musk,along with his companies X Holdings I(as the Parent ) and

Holdings II,Inc. (the Acquisition Sub )entered into a merger agreement with Twitter dated as

ofApril25,2022,by which the Acquisition Sub would merge with Twitter,withTwitter

surviving as awholly owned subsidiary ofX Holdings I (the Merger Agreement ).

34. The Merger Agreement included the parties agreement , in Section 6.9(a),that for

the one-year period following the closing of the merger ,X Holdings Iwould cause Twitter to

provide any remaining Tweeps with severance payments and benefits no less favorable than

those provided under Twitter's policies written or unwritten immediately prior to the merger.

35. Twitter communicated that commitment to its employees almost immediately .By

April 26,2022 the day after the Merger Agreement was announced it had already published

an Acquisition FAQ to its employees that specifically told Tweeps that [t]he terms ofthe

agreement specifically protect Tweep benefits ,base salary ,and bonus plans (short/long term

incentive plans) so that they cannot be negatively impacted for at least one year from the closing

date. And Twitter represented that [i]n the event of a layoff,any employee whose job is

impacted would be eligible for severance .

36. That April version ofthe Acquisition FAQ also told employees that , in the event

oflayoffs after the acquisition , all unvested equity awards ( RSUs ) would likely be forfeited :

Generally speaking , all unvested awards including RSUs are forfeited once a Tweep is no

7
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longer a service provider per the terms of the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan. But Twitter swiftly

and specifically reassured Tweeps that its severance policy and the terms of the Merger

Agreement would protect them from that result ifTwitter carried out a layoff in the year after the

merger , and that they would be able to keep at least some of their unvested RSUs in that event .

37. After Twitter published the Acquisition FAQ and held all-hands meetings in

which Twitter specifically promised Tweeps that the Merger Agreement protected their

severance,employees asked Twitter to commit its severance policy to writing,and Twitter did

so.Twitter explicitly represented ina May email that its severance policy was to provide at a
minimum (1)two months base salary (or incentive-based salary for sales employees),(2)pro

rated performance bonuses as though all triggers for such bonuses had been hit, (3)the cash

value ofany RSUs that would have vested within three months of separation,and (4) a cash

contribution for the continuation of healthcare coverage (the Severance Package ). Twitter later

incorporated that communication into a June update to the Acquisition FAQ and repeated itin

another update in October 2022, just days prior to the merger's close date.
38. The reference to at a minimum was a shorthand reference to Twitter's existing

policy of also providing each employee with severance of an additional week of salary for each

full year at Twitter , and to the fact that Twitter's severance policy for Vice Presidents and above

was even more generous (six months of salary and RSU vesting).

39. Those communications were made at a time of significant uncertainty and

employee concern among other things , Musk and Twitter were litigating over whether Musk

could escape his agreement to purchase Twitter and,on information and belief, were made in

order to assuage that concern and induce Twitter employees to stay at Twitter through the

merger.

8
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40. As detailed below, that worked; as part of their decisions to remain at Twitter

after the merger was announced ,Plaintiffs relied on Twitter's representation that they would

have asafety net if they were terminated after the merger.

41. After the close of the merger,Twitter laid offPlaintiffs Arnold, Froese,Pytlarz,

and Schlaikjer, and constructively discharged Plaintiffs Hawkins and Killian.Yet Defendants

refusedto provide them with the severance they promised.

B. Elon Musk Offers and Agrees to Buy Twitter , Attempts to Renege on the Deal,

and is Forced to Comply with the Terms of the Agreement He Voluntarily
Entered

Twitter is a popular social media company,both in the United States and around

the world . As of October 25,2022,Twitter had over 350 million monthly active users.

43. Likemost large social media companies,Twitter was not without its

controversies .This is particularly true in the challenging and contentious area of content

regulation,which is an ongoing challenge for all large platforms.

44. Some ofTwitter's content moderation decisions , such as the decision to suspend

former -President Trump in the wake of the January 6, 2021 Capitol riot, were poorly received by

certain segments ofthe population . These critiques grew in vehemence over the following year.

45. During that period,Musk emerged as a particularly vociferous critic of Twitter's

content moderation decisions . His criticisms, which were often expressed on Twitter , grew

stronger and more hostile to the company's policies over time.

46. He expressedthe view that Twitter neededto be fixed and that hecould

accomplishthis and would be better at doingso than anyonewho was then at Twitter.

47. April 4,2022,Musk disclosedthat he had acquired approximately9.2% of

42.

Twitter'sstock.
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48. Followingthe disclosure, Musk was offered, and first accepted but then declined,

a position on Twitter's Board of Directors.

49.

announced that he would purchase Twitter.

50. Heofferedto purchasethe outstanding shares for $ 54.20 each and take the

company private.

51. After some back and forth, the offer was ultimately accepted by Twitter on April

25,2022,when Twitter and Musk entered into the Merger Agreement,which set out the terms

and conditions of the acquisition.

Musk'sefforts to breachthe MergerAgreement began barely two weeks later.

May12,2022, Musk tweeted that the Twitter deal was temporarily on hold

despite the lack of any provision in the Merger Agreement that would allow either party to pause

52.

53.

the deal.

54.

Agreement.

Shortly thereafter , with the encouragement of Twitter founder Jack Dorsey, Musk

55. July 12,2022, Twitter brought anactioninthe DelawareCourtofChancery

seekingspecific performanceof the Merger Agreement.

56. Aftersubstantial public litigation, considerable bad publicity, and on the eve of

his scheduleddepositionin that action, on October4,2022 Musk announced that he would

proceedwiththe purchase as he hadinitiallypromised.

Thedealclosed on October27.57.

58.

July 8 , 2022, Musk sent a letter to Twitter purportingto terminate the Merger

October26, MuskwalkedintoTwitterheadquartersinSanFranciscocarrying

a porcelain plumbing fixture and took the self-created title ChiefTwit.

10
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C. Twitter's Employees Are Worried About the PendingMusk Takeover, and

Twitter MakesRepresentationsto Address Their Concerns.

59. With the promise of Twitter being acquired by one of its fiercest critics , many

Tweeps wereunderstandablyvery concerned about their future, particularlyaboutthe potential

effectsofthe merger on their jobs.

Layoffshad already been discussed as a possibilityevenprior to the acquisition,

and itwas widely reportedthat cuts would be neededas a consequenceofthe additionaldebt that

Twitter was incurringas partofthe acquisition.

61. Given his criticisms , it was also viewed as likely that Musk would make material

changes at Twitter, and that these could well include changes inpersonnel.

62. These concerns were widespread amongst the Tweeps , and Tweeps asked

questions specifically about these possibilities across a range of internal communications

channels as soon as it was clear that a Musk takeover was a serious possibility .

Twitter took these concerns very seriously

Ifa significantnumberofTweeps were worried enoughabout their future to seek

new employment and resign,it would harm Twitter's ability to continue to function smoothly

while the deal was inprogress.
65. The departure of a significant number of employees could,particularly if

operations were adversely affected, create a material adverse event that would jeopardize the

acquisition

60.

63.

64.

Twitterthereforetook severalsteps to reassureits employees.

First, Twitterhadnegotiated for provisions inthe Merger Agreement specifically

to protect and benefit its employees by ensuring that compensation and benefits including

severance would remain stable after the merger.

66.

67.

11
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68. The final Merger Agreement included a provision Section 6.9(a) that

obligated Twitter to maintain its pre-merger benefits, including severance,for at least one-year

after the acquisition closed (the Severance Stability Promise ).

69. Thatclausereadas follows, infull:

(a) Continuing Employee Benefits . Employees of the Company or its Subsidiaries

immediately prior to the Effective Time [ the close of the merger] who remain
employees ofParent [X Holdings , the Surviving Corporation [Twitter] or any
of their Affiliates following the Effective Time are hereinafter referred to as the

Continuing Employees. For the period commencing at the Effective Time and

ending onthe one-year anniversary of the Effective Time (the Continuation

Period ) , Parent shall, or shall cause the Surviving Corporation or any oftheir

Affiliates to, provide for each Continuing Employee (i) at least the same base

salary and wage rate, (ii) short- and long-term target incentive compensation

opportunities that are no less favorable in the aggregate than those provided to
each such Continuing Employee immediately prior to the Effective Time

(provided that Parent shall not be obligated to provide such incentives in the form

ofequity or equity-based awards) and (iii) employee benefits (excluding equity
and equity-based awards) which are substantially comparable in the aggregate

( includingwith respect to the proportion ofemployee cost) to those provided to

such Continuing Employee immediately prior to the Effective Time. Without
limiting the generality of the foregoing, during the Continuation Period, Parent

shall provide, or shall cause the Surviving Corporation or any oftheir Affiliates to

provide severance payments and benefits to each Continuing Employee whose
employment is terminated during such period that are no less favorable than those

applicable to the Continuing Employee immediately prior to the Effective Time
under the Company Benefit Plans.

(emphasis added) .

70. And theMergerAgreement expressly defined Company BenefitPlans as

including any severance, termination, retention, or other employee benefitplans benefit

policies orbenefit arrangements (whether or not inwriting that Twitter maintained.

71. Only the employees who received the benefit of the Severance Stability Promise

could ever enforce that provision ofthe Merger Agreement ; once the merger was completed ,

Twitter would be wholly owned and controlled by X Holdings I, and therefore neither Twitter

nor X Holdings I would sue over any breach of the Severance Stability Promise.

12
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72. information and belief,both Musk and Twitter intended to confer the benefit

ofthe Severance Stability Promise on Twitter's existing employees as an inducement for those

employees to remain at Twitter pending the merger.

73. The employeeswho receivedthe benefitof the Severance StabilityPromisewere

intendedbeneficiaries.

Moreover, the Severance StabilityPromiseprovided benefits to all involved.

Twitteremployees who decided not to exercise their right to seek or obtain new

employment and instead remain with Twitter following a Musk acquisition received a guarantee

ofa degree ofstability inboththeir compensation and in their severance packages, should Musk

implement layoffs or attempt to manufacture a firing for cause.

76. Twitter also benefitted from a degreeof stability via employeeretention during

the pendencyofthe acquisitionand the relatedlitigation. That reducedthe chances ofan

acquisition-threateningmaterialadverse event, protectingthe chances that the dealwouldbe

74.

75.

consummated.

And Musk,in extending an offer intended to entice employees to stay pending his

acquisition,also received stability the promise of a company that would be,when he completed

his takeover , in largely the condition it was when he made the offer ,allowing him to begin to

reshape Twitter from a stable foundation .

78. Nevertheless, Tweeps remained concernedabout theconsequences ofthe

77.

acquisition

79. Twitter issuedthe AcquisitionFAQto provideemployees with a resourcefor

informationregardingthe deal.

13
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80. The Acquisition FAQ included detailed reassurances and representations to

employees regarding their compensation , and how equity grants would be handled.

81. Italsoexplicitly statedthat, inthe eventofa layoff, any employeewhosejob is

impactedwouldbe eligible for severance.

82. AfterMusk'spurchase ofTwitter was announced, Twitter also held meetings with

its employeesto address their questions and concerns about the changeincontrol.

Someemployees took the opportunity presentedby at leastone suchmeeting, an

all-handsthat took place onor aboutApril 29, 2022, to specificallyask about severance.

Inresponseto those questions, Twitter orally communicatedto its employeesat

that time that Muskhad made the Severance Stability Promiseinthe MergerAgreement.

Plaintiffsin fact learned that information from Twitter.

83.

84.

85.

86. Evenaftertheseverbal representationsandpromises, Tweeps continuedto raise

questions about their compensation, and to specifically inquireabout severance.

87. After those meetings ,Twitter employees began to press Twitter to put its

severance policy in writing, so that they could know exactly what they were being promised

about their severance and also have the existing policy documented, so itwould be more difficult

for Musk to avoid were he so inclined.

Tweepscontinuedto raisesimilarquestionsin the companySlackchannels88.

duringthefirsthalfofMay.

89. Atonepoint, a Tweep postedto Twitter's internal Slack, tagging Twitter's C

Suite leadership and communicating that the details ofTwitter's severance would be critical to

employees decisions to remain pending the close ofthe merger .

14
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90. Inresponse, on May 13, 2022 , Twitter sent out a companywide FAQ via email

the Severance Policy Email ) that included Twitter's general severance package if a position

iseliminated.

91. information and belief, Twitter circulated the Severance Policy Email

specifically because itwanted its employees to rely on the promise that they would be paid such

severance ifthey were later laid off and therefore decide to take the risk of remaining at Twitter

through the merger,despite Musk's evident dissatisfaction with Twitter as a company and erratic

personality

92. Theemailrepresentedandpromisedthat:

Generally speaking, in the event of a position elimination , our current severance

package includes a lump sum cash amount in exchange for signing a separation

agreement ; the package would include at least:

Twomonthsbase salary or On Target Earnings for employees on the Sales

IncentivePlan

Pro-ratedPerformanceBonusPlancompensationat target

Cashvalueofequity that would have vested within three months from the
separation date

cashcontributionfor healthcare continuation.

(bulletpoints in original) .

93. The Severance Policy Email and Severance Stability Promise were subjects of

muchdiscussionamong Twitter employees.

94. Twitter continuedto keep its employees up to date on the progress ofthe

acquisitionandrelatedlitigation.

95. October24, 2022 just two days before the deal closed --Twitteragain

repeatedthesamestatementto employeesregardingseverance.

15
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96. On information and belief,Twitter made these statements to reassure employees

and to induce them to remain at Twitter in order to provide a stable set of conditions going into

the acquisition.

97. information and belief, Twitter expectedthat employees would relyupon

these statements as a reason to remain at Twitter, and to refrain from seeking new employment

duringthe pre-acquisition period.

98. Itwas reasonable for employees to relyupon these explicit representations.The

Merger Agreement contained explicit provisions relating to the post-acquisition company's

severance obligations . Twitter's additional promises and representations outlined what that

severance would consist of,and were made in response to questions that explicitly asked what

the existing severance package consisted of.

Plaintiffs did, infact, rely uponthese promisesand representations.

The promised severance in fact factored into Plaintiffs decisions to remain at

99.

100.

Twitter through the closing of the merger.

101. put it simply , Plaintiffs were aware of and relied on the fact that they had a

safety net ifMusk conducted a mass layoff or even targeted firings : ifterminated , they would

receive a significant sum as a severance payment, which would help provide time to find a new

job without severe economic pressure .

Had itnotbeenfor the Severance StabilityPromise and Twitter's

communications about severance ,Plaintiffs would have begun the interview process to find a

more stable employment situation in mid-May, or adjusted their approach to other opportunities

when they arose between May and the close of the merger.

103. Instead, Plaintiffschoseto remainat Twitter.

102.

16
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D. Takes Over and Almost Immediately Breaches His Obligations Under the

Merger Agreement

October 26, 2022, Musk took over as the owner ofTwitter.104.

105. Accordingto public reports, Musk exercised near- total personalcontrolover

decision-makingat Twitter inthe immediatepost-takeover period, evendeclaringthat he would

sleep inthe building until the org is fixed.

106. informationand belief, Muskdid not ever intend to carry out his partofthe

MergerAgreementregardingseverance.

107. informationand belief, Musk signed the Merger Agreement with every

intentionofviolatingits provisions.

Infact, it immediatelybecameclearthat Musk hadno intentionofhonoringthe

arrangement that he had voluntarily agreedto in the MergerAgreement,and which he hadonly

reluctantlyagreedto close.

108.

109. Inadditionto the provisionsbenefittingordinary employees, the Merger

Agreement also effectively ratified Golden Parachute provisions for any executives Musk let

go following the merger .

110. AlmostimmediatelyuponMusk'sarrivalat Twitter, he insteadpurportedto

terminateexecutivesfor cause.

111.

takeover.

informationandbelief, this occurredinsomecaseswithinhoursofthe

112. On information and belief, Musk refused to pay those executives the agreed-upon

compensation

17
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113. Infact,on information and belief, Musk did not even intend to have Twitter pay

the Directors and Officers Indemnificationand Insurance premiums, as requiredby Section6.6

ofthe Merger Agreement.

114. information and belief, a Twitter employee with access to Twitter's accounts

and capacity to execute the payment made that payment despite Musk's specific objections ,

preventing a breach of the Merger Agreement .

information and belief, that employee was fired for doing so.

Veryshortlyafter themerger, Muskbegana mass layoffofthousandsofTwitter

115.

116.

employees.

OnNovember 3,2022 Twitter instructed its entire 7,500 employee workforce not

to appear for work on Friday the 4th. Instead, employees would receive an email by 9:00 a.m.

Pacific Time to notify them whether they were still employed .

118. information and belief, many employees were in effect notifiedof their

termination earlier, when their access to Twitter systems was abruptly terminated.

119. The next day, roughly halfofTwitter's workforce including Froese and Pytlarz

were notified that they were being laid off.

120. The emailinformingthe affected employees that theywere being terminated

outlined a plannedseverance packageof far less than what Twitterhadrepeatedly promised

and contractually agreed to pay.

121. Specifically,the email advised the employees that [t]he Company is offering a

severance package ofone month base pay (or OTE for commission-based employees) to eligible

impacted employees.

117.

18
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122. information and belief,Musk used engineers from his other companies Tesla

and SpaceX to help determine which Tweeps would be included in the November 4 layoff.

Butthe layoffs did not stop there.Over the next several days, Twitter fired further

employees, informing them that Twitter had deemed them inviolation of some unnamed Twitter

policy.

123.

124. These purported for cause terminations were clearly pretextual ,and constituted

further layoffs.

125. the sametime-frame,and consistent with conversations Musk had in advance

ofclosing onthe merger in which he discussed making changes to employee working conditions

inorder to induce resignations,Muskthen announced that Twitter would be ending its remote

work policy and immediately require allworkers to report to work at a physical Twitter office.

126. Hedidso despite Twitter employing workers who lived (and worked remotely)

manyhours or even hundreds of miles from the nearest Twitter office.

Musksoonupdatedthe policy, indicatingthat Twitter would allow a transition

period for remote workers who livedtoo far froman office to feasibly commuteto moveto a

127.

locationcloserto the Twitteroffices.

128. Later,the policy morphed into one inwhich managers could allow their reports to

work remotely ifthey chose to but would themselves be fired ifthe employees they allowed to

work from home did notperform up to Musk's undefined and unarticulated standards.

129. As intended,this change to Tweeps conditions ofemployment triggered a wave

ofresignations.

130. Butthat wasn't enough. Inmid-November, Musk sent another email,witha link

to anonline form and anultimatum:Any Twitter employee who wantedto keep their job at
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Twitter would need to affirmatively indicate their consent ,by checking a box on an online form,

to a more hardcore working environment which would mean long hours at high intensity

and, in a transparent attempt to avoid the severance obligation to which he had bound himself,

Musk unilaterally decreed that employees who did not affirmatively check the box would be

deemed to have voluntarily resigned in exchange for two-months of non-working leave and a

single month's post-separation pay.

131. As part ofthis wave of layoffs, a substantial number of employees, including

Arnold and Schlaikjer , were laid off because they did not immediately affirmatively agree to the

material changes to their working conditions that Musk had unilaterally demanded .

Andyetagain, that stillwasn'tenough.

Afterthe November 17 layoff, Musk again turned to engineers from his other

132.

task.

133.

companiestoconduct codereviews ofcodewrittenbyTwitteremployees.

134. The code reviews were a clear pretext to attempt additional for cause firings ;

the reviewers lacked the context to meaningfully evaluate the code, and the reviews were

completed in an amount of time that was clearly insufficient for any good faith approach to the

135. After the code reviews, Twitter fired multiple employees on the pretext that

their work was not up to standard.Many of those employees had received uniformly positive

performance reviews prior to being fired.

136. Other employees were put on Performance Improvement Plans in a

transparent attempt to lay the groundwork for future for-cause firings.

137. The slapdash, bad-faith nature ofthese reviews was open and obvious Some

managers acknowledged that they were instructed to stack rank their employees, so that at
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leastsome employees in each group would be fired or placed on even ifallwere performing

adequately Other managers specifically informed employees that the managers had placed on

that the employees should keep doing what they were doing because their performance

did not require improvement . Other managers could not identify the standard by whichthey had

assessed particular performance as requiring improvement. And at least some fired employees

were informed that they had been fired by mistake and asked to return to work.

138. Alltold,on information and belief, Twitter laid off, fired, or engineeredthe

resignations ofover 5,000 employees within less than two months.

139. The reason Twitter sought to engineer resignations or excuses for for-cause

firings is clear:were Twitter required to keep its word to all ofthe laid-off employees and

actually pay them severance per the pre-existing policy,the total cost would easily be in the nine

figures.

140. Instead, Twitter has simply refused to pay the severance it promised to the

employees to convince them to stay through the merger, and which Musk bound himself to pay

them.

E. Twitter ConstructivelyDischarges Hawkinsand Killian

141. Unlikethe otherPlaintiffs, and the thousands oftheir colleagues ina similar

situation, PlaintiffsHawkins and Killianwere not chosen for termination by Twitter.

142. Instead,they were constructively discharged when Twitter drastically changed the

terms and conditions of their employment after the Musk acquisition such that, for each ofthem,

resigning was the only rational option available to them.
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a . TracyHawkins

143. In2022, Hawkins was Twitter's VicePresidentofReal Estate and Workplace,

responsiblefor its office leases and managing itsphysicaloffices.

144. Hawkins reached that position through years of hard work, building relationships

with other corporate real estate management ( CREM ) professionals , including property

owners , brokers , managers , and peers.

145. Indeed, she was a BoardMember of the Northern California chapterof CoreNet

Global, the global professional association for CREM professionals.

146. InHawkins lineofwork,reputation is critical; it is impossible to negotiate viable

terms on behalfofany employer ifyou have a reputation for breaking your word.

147. And thatpracticalreality is incorporated into the ethical rules CREM

professionalsareexpectedto abideby.

Asdetailedbelow,Hawkinswas forced to resignwhen ElonMusk andhis

transition team insistedthat she violate her professionalethics by causing Twitter to intentionally

breachits leases and other contracts.

148.

149. Doingso would not only have beendeeply unethical but would also have

effectively ended her career by rendering herunemployable as a CREM professional, at Twitter

oranywhere else.

150. Unlikesome employees at Twitter prior to Musk's takeover, Hawkins was not

opposedto the merger or the concept ofMusk as Twitter's new CEO

151. Hawkins received word of the impending merger deal while on a family vacation ,

and didnotknow muchaboutMusk at the time.

22



Case 1 :23- cv- 00528- UNA Document 1 Filed 05/16/23 Page 23 of 56 PagelD # : 23

152. Giventhe uncertainty, her focus in the period leading up to the merger, and the

leadership she provided her team, centered around one basic principle : Let's focus on doing our

jobs and protecting our people.

153. During the pendency of the merger, employee retention was a critical concern for

the company and a focus of discussions among leadership .

154. As the closingof the merger approached,Musk's behavior heightened Hawkins

concerns; he showed up to an all-hands meeting exactly once, arriving late and spending his time

talking about extraterrestrials .

155. Even after that meeting,Hawkins kept an open mind, hoping that Musk's odd

behavior would not impact his leadership once he took over Twitter and the employees were part

of"his team.

156. But Hawkins also formed a strong determination to remain at Twitter at least

throughout any transition period, in order to shepherd her team through the transition .

The realityof Musk'snew directives andoperation ofTwitter almost immediately157.

shatteredthat determination.

158. UponMusk's arrival at Twitter, he brought withhim a transition teamof

executives and sycophants from his other companies, from whomMusk directed Twitter's

employeesto take direction (the Transition Team ).

Healso broughtover Tesla engineers to, uponinformationand belief, make159.

retention and termination decisions .

160. The Transition Team decreed that no managers were allowed to communicate

with their teams via Slack the primary form of internal communication within Twitter

making ordinary business almost impossible .
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161. The Transition Team also froze allpaymentsto vendors untilthey couldbe

verified.

162. Neitherthe Transition Team nor anyone else inTwitter leadership ever explained

what neededto be verified and, upon informationandbelief,noefforts were evermadeto

conductsuch verification.

163. Instead, uponinformationand belief, the verification rhetoric was a way for the

Transition Team to terminate vendorpayments without immediately announcingto vendors that

Twitter was deliberately breachingitscontractswiththem.

164. Butthat was what Twitter was doing.

Facedwithtens or hundredsofthousandsofdollarsinoutstandinginvoiceswith

noreasonable expectation oftimely payment, manyofthese vendors informed Twitter that they

wouldnot be performing further work for Twitter untilthose invoiceswerepaid.

166. Inresponse,Twitter simply fired these vendors, canceling their contracts and

refusingto pay both the outstanding invoices and any termination fees.

167. Musk's deliberate breaches of contract did not stop with the vendors .

168. information and belief, Musk had attempted to halt the payment ofthe

employees contractually mandated November RSU vests .

169. information and belief, Robert Kaiden the company's Chief Accounting

Officer took it upon himself to ensure that the employees received their November vest, as

required by Section 3.6(d)(ii) ofthe Merger Agreement , by making the $54.20-per-RSU payment

165.

to which Twitterhad committeditself.

170. RobertKaidenwas fired shortly after the Novembervest paymentswentthrough.
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171. information and belief, Kaiden was fired because ofhis actions inmaking the

November RSU payment in compliance with Twitter's obligations and over Musk's objections.

Dalana Brand,Twitter's Chief People Officer and Hawkins direct manager,

handed inher notice within days after the merger closed because she was disgusted at how

people were being treated.

173. or about October 30, 2022, Hawkins attended a meeting with Steve Davis,

Jared Burchall, and many of Twitter's global leaders.

174. Inthat meeting,Davis announced several changes that boded ill for Hawkins

team and her role at Twitter.

172.

175. First,he announced that Twitter's Sourcing and Procurement team should handle

all lease negotiations from that point forward, despite lacking both personnel and experience

sufficientto handle this task.

176. Next, he announcedthat the company would no longerbe workingwith brokers to

procure andnegotiateleases.

177. This choiceran in conflict with every established standard and practiceof

commercialrealestate management,and stood to further increase the burdenon the in-house

staffsubstantially.

178. The meeting gave no opportunities for feedback or discussion it was merely a

series ofnonsensical pronouncements.

The only justification given for the changes was Elon wants this.

180. Very soon thereafter , Davis informed Hawkins that Twitter needed to find five

hundredmilliondollars in annualsavings.

179.
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181.

be filledout every single day, identifyingpossible savings opportunities.

182.

183.

information.

above made it clear that compliance was prioritized above accuracy.

184.

185.

To accomplishthis , each Global Lead was given a massivespreadsheet that hadto

186.

Forexample, Twitter instructed Hawkins to identify leases for cancellation.

Whenshe identified potential sites and leases that could be terminatedfor cost

savings, Hawkins and her team took the time to document the risk factors involvedin

downsizingor terminating these leases, suchas large terminationfees.

187. However, when the time came to present their conclusions , this added context was

Hawkins spreadsheetcovered thirty locations andupwards offifty leases.

The pressureto fill in the spreadsheeton time was immense. Expectationsfrom

190.

Nonetheless , Hawkins and her team strove to deliver reliable, well- contextualized

notwell received.

188. When informedofthe risks of termination fees during a meeting on November 3,

2022, Steve Davis said well, we just won't pay those.We just won't pay landlords.

189. Davis also told Hawkins We just won't pay rent.

Those are direct quotes ofDavis per Hawkins's best recollection; to the extent

191.

thattheyarenotword- for-wordaccuratethey areanextremelytightparaphrase.

Hawkinswas shocked.

192. Twitter specificallydirected Hawkins to breachits leases, whether by terminating

without any good faith justification under the terms ofthe applicable lease, or by simply stealing

from the landlords by intentionally remaining on the premises without any intention ofpaying

amounts Twitter knew and believed were its legal obligation to pay.
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193. Unwillingto be involvedin(letalone responsible for) such thefts,Hawkins

resignedthe nextday.

194. She did so despite her internal commitment to remain through the transition , to

protect her team , because she had no other choice.

195. Her options were stark: resign, and leave with her professional integrity and

reputation intact and without being involvedin a crime,or remainand be complicit in and held

professionally responsible for a scheme to defraud landlords out ofthe rent or other fees

admittedly due to them, destroying her own reputationand career in the process.

196. Hawkins delayed her resignation only long enough to let her team know she was

leaving.

197. Indeed, Hawkins resignation was required by the code of professional ethics

CREM professionals hold to.

198. Hawkins roleas a commercialreal estate and facilities manager requiredherto

maintainrobust and healthy relationships with real estate professionals outsideofTwitter.

199. Indeed,Hawkins would not havebeenable to achieve her stellar levels of

performance within herrole at Twitter withoutthose relationships, which she had built over

years.

200. The professional expectation ofCREM professionals asked to violate their

professional ethics was clear : you must quit rather than comply .

201. Had Hawkins executed Twitter's plans , the trust that forms the foundation of the

relationshipsnecessaryto performin herrole wouldhavebeenshattered.

202. Oncebroken, trustreturnsslowly ifatall.
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203. Inthe wake ofthat loss of trust, Hawkins would have been unable to be

professionally effective in any CREM role she took thereafter.

204. In effect, ifshe had done what Twitter was asking her to do, Hawkins would have

become permanently unemployable inher field.

205. Underthe circumstances, any objectivelyreasonableperson in Hawkinsposition

wouldhaverecognizedwhat Hawkinsdid: that Twitter's conductand new demandsrequiredher

toquit.

b . JosephKillian

206. After Hawkins left Twitter , Killian, who was Twitter's Global Head of

Construction and Design, was immediately assigned Hawkins's duties and given responsibility

for managing Twitter's portfolio of nearly fifty leases .

207. Killian worked directly with the Transition Team to effect the transition from

Twitter 1.0 (pre-Musk) to Twitter 2.0 (post-Musk) and bring Twitter in line with Musk's

standard business practices.

208. Killian was directed in these activities by Steve Davis and Liz Jenkins ,who

worked for the Boring Company, and Pablo Mendoza, a venture capitalist who invested with

Musk

209. KillianwasalsodirectedintheseactivitiesbyNicoleHollander.

210. information and belief, Hollander was not employed by any of Musk's

companies.

211. informationand belief, Hollander is Steve Davis's girlfriend and the motherof

hischild.
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212. On information and belief, Hollander was living at Twitter headquarters with

Davis and their infant child, who was a month old.

DespitenotbeingemployedbyanyofMusk'scompanies, Hollandernonetheless

had full instructionalauthority over Killianand the rest ofhis team with regards to the transition.

Almost immediately, Musk's zero-cost basis policy reared its head.

Killianwas informedby the TransitionTeam that he would have tojustify his

spend to Muskpersonally, and that ifMuskwas notconvinced that the expenses were necessary,

hewould simply default on his contractual obligations and let the expenses go unpaid.

216. InearlyDecember, Davis sent a 3:00 a.m. email to 15 or 20 managers

complaining about Twitter's rent obligations, which totaled $ 130Mannually.

217. Inthis email,Davis specifically compared Twitter's rent obligations to SpaceX's ,

noting that Twitter had 1/10th as many employees as SpaceX but paid five times as much rent

annually.

213.

214.

215.

218. course, Twitter had significantly more employees when it first incurred its rent

obligations.

219. Killianquickly became concerned that Musk intended to stop paying rent on

Twitter's outstanding leases, breaching the contracts and placing the company atrisk ofbeing

evicted.

220. Indeed, Musk's attorney ,Alex Spiro, loudly opined that it was unreasonable for

Twitter's landlords to expect Twitter to pay rent, since San Francisco was a shithole.

221. Moreover, during his month working at Elon Twitter,Killian repeatedly

watched as Twitter would obtain services from brokers and vendors only to fire those brokers

andvendors when they demanded payment pursuant to their agreements with Twitter .
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222. Musk even went so far as to prevent Twitter from paying the janitorial staff for

the work they had already provided after the janitors complained about being fired.

223. Inessence, it quickly became clear to Killian that Musk's intended method of

operation was to obtain services from vendors without any intention ofkeeping the agreements

or paying for services requested and received.

224. Killian's concern that Musk truly intended to apply this approach to Twitter's rent

obligations was confirmed for the last time when,on December 9 , 2022 , Mendoza specifically

informed Killian that Musk had decided Twitter would no longer be paying rent,globally .

By the time ofthat conversation with Mendoza ,Killian had already been

instructed to break all of Twitter's leases and close offices regardless of Twitter's outstanding

obligations on those leases .

225.

226. Killian attempted to convince Musk, via Mendoza , of the danger of Musk's new

position that no rent would be paid whatsoever , pointing out that any attempt to renegotiate the

terms of Twitter's many leases would be doomed to failure ifTwitter had defaulted on the rent.

227. Inresponse,Mendoza told Killianthat Musk had decided that Twitter would only

pay rent over [his] dead body.

228. Mendoza conveyed that Musk had made that statement during a 4:00 a.m.

conversationthat day.

229. Mendoza conveyed that the decision was final.

230. That conversation, and the confirmation to Killian that he would be unable to

address Twitter's desire to decrease its spend on rent in any ethical fashion came just a day

before he tendered his resignation.
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231. Musk's instruction to simply ignore Twitter's contractual obligations and force

Killian to breach contracts and destroy relationships he had spent more than a decade building

would have been more than enough to render it impossible for Killian or any reasonable

employee to remain employed at Twitter .

Butthatwasnottheonly issue.

Muskwas also making clear that his reckless disregard included disregard for

232.

233 .

boththe law andfor the lives andsafety ofhiscolleaguesand employees.

234. Forexample, Davistold Killian thatMuskwanted to add a bathroomnextto his

office so that Musk didn't have to wake his security team and cross half the floor to use the

bathroom in the middle of the night.

235. Killianexplainedthat itwould take timeto get the necessarypermits, but

promisedto beginthat processrightaway.

236. Inresponse, Davis instructed Killiannot to bother with obtaining permits because,

to paraphrase, we don't do that, we don't have to follow those rules.

237. Shocked, Killian reminded Davis that ifthey did not get a permit, no licensed

plumber would perform the work for fear ofjeopardizing their license.

238. Davis responded by instructing Killian to hire an unlicensed plumber instead.

239. Now thoroughly bewildered ,Killian attempted to explain that the use of licensed

tradespeople was a condition oftheir lease,and that failure to abide by it would put them in

breach ofthat lease.

240. Davis responded that management did not care about any of this , that they weren't

interested in ensuring that the work was performed in accordance with the standards required by
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the lease, by the City of San Francisco, by the State of California , or any other authority , they

just wanted it done.

plant.

241. Itgot worse .

rooms at Twitter HQ.

243. Killianwas initially told that the hotel rooms, soon renamedto sleeping

rooms to avoid triggering the suspicions of the city inspectors,were just being installedto give

exhausted and overworkedemployees a place to nap.

244. Though the changes had initially been simple , if unorthodox removing a

conference table and installing a bed Davis instructed Killian to begin planning for and

implementing the addition of features like en-suite bathrooms and other changes to the physical

record.

242. Musk announced via the Transition Team that he was going to be installing hotel

245. Concerned about how city inspectors would react to Twitter's plans,Killian

emailed the Transition Team to note that the changes they had made thus far were limited to just

furniture and therefore were code compliant , but that Twitter's future planned changes would

require permits and more complicated code compliance .

246. Inresponse, Hollander visited him inperson and emphatically instructed himto

neverputanythingaboutthe projectinwritingagain.

247. Hollanderappeared surprised and distressed that Killiandid not inherently

understandthat this was not a project for whichMusk and the Transition Team wantedawritten

248. Hollanderspecificallyconveyedthat Davis inparticularwasupsetthatKillian

had sent the email.
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249. When the city inspectors came to inspect the hotel rooms , they expressed surprise

and relief to Killian, saying This is just furniture ! We expected more drastic changes.

250. instructed by the Transition Team, Killian did not tell the inspectors ofthe

future plans to expand the changes to the sleeping rooms.

251. Buthe realized,with growing unease,that his silence was effectively a lieof

omission, and one that would be undeniable and obvious once the planned changes had been

completed in the near future.

252. Killianbeganto understandthat his loyalty to Twitter andhis desire to protect the

company he lovedfrom Musk and the TransitionTeam was going to be increasinglychallenged

by hisemployer'sexpectationthathe would lie, defraud, and evenbreakthe lawat

direction.

253. Killian was soon instructed to circumvent the landlord's lighting control system,

which was motion- sensitive in compliance with California's Title 24 energy code, because the

lights were bothering people living in the hotel rooms when their small movements at night

would trigger the lights.

254. Killiansubmittedthese requeststo the landlord, whodeniedthem,

255. When the landlord denied Twitter's requests , Killian was instructed to disconnect

the lightinghimself, which was not safe and which he was notqualified to do.

256. When he objected, Hollanderberatedhim for refusingto do the workhimself.

257. She was notsatisfieduntilhe brought her inand had her look into the drop- ceiling

and see whatthe electricalsystem looked like, to understandthat he couldnot safely dothe work

himself
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258. Caughtbetween a rock and a hardplace,Killian hiredan electrician to disconnect

these rooms independently, putting Twitter in violation ofboth the building code and their lease.

Itgot worse.259.

Killianwas instructed to installspace heaters in the hotel rooms infurther260.

violation of Twitter's lease.

261. Killian was also instructed to place locks on the hotel room doors a request

that betrayed the lie that these were intended to be temporary rest spaces for exhausted Tweeps.

262. California code requires locks that automatically disengage when the building's

fire suppression systems are triggered.

263. Killian was repeatedly told that compliant locks were too expensive and

instructed to immediately install cheaper locks that were not compliant with life safety and

egress codes.

264. Again,Killian protested that no licensed tradesperson would perform work that

violated the building code .

265. Killianprotested that installing these locks would put lives at risk that in case of

an earthquake or fire (the latter ofwhich was made dramatically more likely by the non
compliant electrical work and the presence ofthe space heaters he had been instructed to install),
these locks would remain locked,blocking first responders from being able to access the rooms
and the Tweeps within.

Nobodycared.

267. informationand belief, the non-compliantlockswerein fact eventually

installed butnotby Killian.

266.

268. Killian quit that day.
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269. Between the demands that he effectively participate intheft and fraud and

instructions to take actions inviolation of California law and that could put his colleagues lives

atrisk inthe event ofa fire a possibility only increased by the unlicensed use ofspace heaters

Killianhad no choice but to walk away from the job he had dedicated over a decade ofhis life to .

270. Ratherthan allow himselfto become complicit,Killian resigned his position on

December10, 2022.

F. Allegations Relatingto Piercingthe Corporate Veil

271. There is such a unity of interest and ownership between Twitter and Musk that

Twitter's separate corporatestatus no longer exists.

272. Musk, through X Holdings I , owns more than 50% ofTwitter.

Musk dominates Twitter's decision-making and operations .

For instance, Muskchanges Twitter's policyby conductingpolls from his Twitter

273 .

274 .

account.

275. Priorto Musk's takeover ofTwitter, for example, Twitter had bannedthe

accountsofneo- Nazissuchas AndrewAnglin.

276. FollowingMusk'stakeover, he conducteda Twitter poll to determine whetherto

restorepreviouslybannedaccounts.

277. Musk's direction , Twitter restored Anglin's account .

Twitterhasengaged in other content moderationdecisions at Musk'swhims.

279. For instance, Muskinitiallyindicated that after his takeover of Twitter, the

@ElonJetaccount that used publicly available ADS-B data to provide information on Musk's

privatejet flights, would be allowed to remain on Twitter.

280. After a crazed fanofMusk's ex-girlfriend, Grimes , confronted a car carrying their

son, X A- ,Musk blamed the @ElonJet account and directed its suspension from Twitter.
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281. Similarly, Musk unilaterally changed the price ofTwitter's new subscription

service,Twitter Blue, based on a tweet interaction with author Stephen King.

282. information and belief,Musk has exercised control over Twitter's decision

making and operations in other ways,from directing it not to pay landlords and vendors to

repudiating its severance obligations .
283. On information and belief, Musk has commingled his other assets with Twitter's,

bringing engineers and executives from his other companies such as Tesla, SpaceX, and The

Boring Company to provide services for Twitter .

informationand belief, those engineersand executives havenotbeen

separatelyhired, retained, or paidby Twitter for any servicesthey haveprovidedto Muskat

284.

Twitter.

285. Moreover, Musk has repeatedly publicly asserted that Twitter is onthe edge of

insolvency and may declare bankruptcy.

286. information and belief, any such bankruptcy would be the result ofthe debt

Twitter incurred as part of financing Musk's purchase of Twitter in the first instance.

287. informationand belief, Twitter is undercapitalizedspecifically as a resultof

Musk'spurchase ofthe corporation.

288. Under the circumstances , and particularly given the risk of bankruptcy and

insolvency, an inequitable result is likely to follow if Twitter's actions are considered those of

the corporation alone.

289. Twitter operates from California and relevant activity occurredin

California
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290. As such,andapplying Californialaw, Plaintiffsare entitledto anorder holding

Muskpersonally liable for any amounts awarded on their other claims.

CAUSES OF ACTION

herein.

291.

COUNT I

292.

DECLARATORY JUDGMENT

( AllPlaintiffs, AgainstX Corp., X HoldingsCorp., andMusk)

Plaintiffsrepeatand reallegeparagraphs1-290aboveas thoughfullyrestated

Section 6.9(a)of the Merger Agreement required Twitter to maintain its pre

merger severance policy the Severance Package or, for Vice Presidents and above,the

enhanced severance they were entitled to under Twitter's prior policy without diminution for at

least ayear post-merger.
293. Plaintiffs ,as ex-Tweeps who were Continuing Employees as defined inthe

Merger Agreement , are third-party beneficiaries of the Merger Agreement with standing to

enforce Section 6.9(a) of the Merger Agreement .

294. Twitter and X Holdings I have asserted that Section 6.9(a) ofthe Merger

Agreement does not obligate Twitter to provide any particular severance to its Continuing

Employees.

295. Twitter and X Holdings Ihave asserted that Continuing Employees are not third

party beneficiaries of the Merger Agreement and therefore have no standing to enforce the

Merger Agreement.
296. There is therefore an actual dispute between the parties as to the construction of

the Merger Agreement and Plaintiffs rights thereunder .
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297. such,Plaintiffs are entitled to a declaration that Continuing Employees have

standing to enforce the Merger Agreement and that the Merger Agreement required Twitter to

provide Continuing Employees with severance consistent with Twitter's severance policy as it

existed prior to the merger.

herein.

298.

herein.

299. Plaintiffs are intended third-party beneficiaries ofthe Severance Stability

Promise, and therefore can bring this claim to enforce that promise.

300. Twitter has breached the MergerAgreement by refusingto pay Plaintiffs the

severance outlined inthe SeverancePackage, or, for PlaintiffHawkins, the enhancedseverance

available to her as well as otherbenefits that were requiredto remainunchanged.

301. X Holdings I has breached the Merger Agreement by failing to require Twitter to

pay the severance outlined in the Severance Package , as well as other benefits that were required

to remain unchanged.

COUNTII

BREACH OF MERGER AGREEMENT

(AllPlaintiffs, Against X Corp., X Holdings Corp., and Musk)

Plaintiffsrepeatand reallege paragraphs 1-297 above as though fully restated

302. As such,Plaintiffs are entitledto an awardofdamages in an amount to be

calculated at trial, but reasonablybelieved to exceed $ 1,000,000.00, pluspre-andpost-judgment

interest, costs, attorneys fees, and penalties as authorizedby statute.

COUNT III

303.

BREACHOF CONTRACT

(AllPlaintiffs, Against Twitter andMusk)

Plaintiffsrepeatand reallege paragraphs 1-302 above as though fully restated
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304. The Severance Policy Email and related communications constituted an offer

from Twitter to its employees , that Twitter would provide its pre-merger severance and maintain

current benefits in exchange for each employee's remaining employed at Twitter through the

merger.

305. Plaintiffsaccepted that offer by continuingto work at Twitter insteadofobtaining

morestable employment.

306. PlaintiffsprovidedTwitter with considerationfor itspromise by continuingto

work at Twitterthroughthat period until they were laid offor resigned.

such,Twitter entered into a binding agreement to maintain the then-current

benefits and provide Plaintiffs with the severance outlined in the Severance Policy Email or as

otherwise provided for by Twitter's pre-merger severance policies,which Plaintiffs fully

performed.

307.

308. Twitter has breached this agreement by refusing to pay Plaintiffs the severance

outlined in the Severance Policy Email and diminishing the benefits it made available to them.

309. As such,Plaintiffs are entitled to an award of damages in an amount to be

calculated at trial, plus pre- and post-judgment interest, costs, attorneys fees , and penalties as

authorized by statute.

herein.

310 .

311.

COUNT IV

PROMISSORYESTOPPEL

(AllPlaintiffs, Inthe Alternative, Against X Corp. and Musk)

Plaintiffsrepeatandreallege paragraphs 1-309above as thoughmore fully stated

theextentthat Twitter's communications and the Plaintiffs subsequent

conduct somehow did not create an enforceable contract between Plaintiffs and Twitter,
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Twitter's representations to the employees about severance are enforceable under the doctrine of

promissory estoppel .

The Severance Stability Promiseis a clear and explicit promisethat Twitter

employees would receive severance and other benefitsno less favorable after the merger than

they would have receivedunderthe oldmanagement.

313. Twitterreinforced and repeatedthis promise both orally and inthe Severance

PolicyEmail and AcquisitionFAQ.

312.

314. Itwas reasonable for Plaintiffs to rely uponthat promise.

Plaintiffsdid infact rely upon that promise.

Plaintiffs were damaged by that reasonable reliance, in that itnegatively impacted

their ability to find alternative employment in advance of the merger.

317. Twitter's promise to provide Plaintiffs with severance and other benefits in

accordance with the policy outlined in the Severance Policy Email and Acquisition FAQ is

therefore binding,and Twitter must provide Plaintiffs with such severance.

As such,Plaintiffs are entitled to an award of damages in an amount to be

calculated at trial, plus pre- and post-judgment interest, costs, attorneys fees ,and penalties as

authorized by statute .

herein.

315.

316.

318.

COUNT V

BREACH OF OFFER LETTER

(All Plaintiffs, Against X Corp. and Musk)

319. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege paragraphs 1-318 above as though fully restated
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320. Prior to commencing work at Twitter , each ofPlaintiffs executed an offer letter

that constituted a binding contract between themselves and Twitter with respect to their

employment at Twitter.

321. Plaintiff Killian executed his offer letter on or about March 19, 2010 .

PlaintiffFroese executed his offer letter on or about November 26,2012 .

PlaintiffPytlarz executed her offer letter on or about January 22, 2013.

324. PlaintiffArnold executed his offer letter on or about October 16,2013.

325. PlaintiffHawkins executed her offer letter on or about March 2013.

Plaintiff Schlaikjer executed his offer letter on or about October 6,2011.

327. Each of Plaintiffs offer letters provided that they were eligible to receive benefits

under the terms of Twitter's benefit plans.

328. Twitter's severance policy constituted a benefit plan that Plaintiffs were entitled

to receive the benefit of at the end oftheir employment with Twitter.

329. TwitterdidnotprovidePlaintiffswith severancein accordancewith itsbenefit

plan.

322 .

herein.

323.

326.

330. As such,Plaintiffs are entitled to an award of damages inan amount to be

calculated at trial, plus pre- and post-judgment interest, costs, attorneys fees , and penalties as

authorizedby statute.

COUNTVI

FRAUD

( AllPlaintiffs, Against All Defendants)

331. Plaintiffsrepeatand reallegeparagraphs1-330above as thoughfullyrestated
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332. Insigningthe Merger Agreement, and in its subsequent statements to its

employees Twitter representedthat ifit laid offemployees in the firstyear followingthe merger,

itwouldpay severanceno less favorablethan ithadpaid previously.

333. Twitter intended that its employees would rely uponthese representations and

elect to remain at Twitter through the merger period .

334. Inaddition, on information and belief,Musk, X Holdings I, and X Holdings II

intended Twitter to communicate their purported agreement to the Severance Stability Promise to

the Tweeps in order to allay Tweep concerns about the merger.

information and belief,Musk,X Holdings I, and X Holdings intended that

Twitter's employees would rely upon these representations and elect to remain at Twitter

through the merger period .

336. Plaintiffsdidrelyuponthese representations.

337. informationand belief,none of Musk, X Holdings I,or X Holdings IIever

intendedto follow through on the Severance StabilityPromise.

338. Indeed,upon arrival at Twitter, Musk's people communicated to at least some

Twitter employees that Musk's general approach to business is to operate on a "zero-cost basis"

that requiresall costs to bejustified afresh, and that Musk treats any preexisting legalobligations

as completely irrelevant to whether he will in fact pay such costs.

339. Musk has in fact instituted a policy ofhaving Twitter refuse to follow through on

itscontractualobligations to vendors, landlords, and employees.

340. Musk did so immediately upon taking over Twitter, indicating that he always

intended to institute such a policy.

335.
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341. Moreover,Section 6.9(e) ofthe Merger Agreement contained a provision reciting

that the employees who were to be protected by the Severance Stability Promise were not third

party beneficiaries (the Breach Immunization Clause ).
342. informationand belief, the Breach ImmunizationClause was included inthe

MergerAgreement at Musk's (and his entities ) request.

343. While the Breach Immunization Clause is ineffective under Delaware law, the

only reason to include the Breach Immunization Clause inthe Merger Agreement was because

Musk had a pre-existing intent to maintain an option to not pay the severance that Section 6.9(a)

would otherwise require.

344. information and belief, Twitter either knew or was reckless to the fact that its

representations to the Tweeps were untrue .

345. When itlaid off Plaintiffs, Twitter in fact offered severance that was far less

favorablethan ithadpreviouslypaidto laid-offemployees.

346. a result ofDefendants fraud, Plaintiffs suffered damages .

347. such, Plaintiffs are entitledto an awardofdamages in an amount to be

calculatedat trial, plus pre- andpost-judgment interest, punitive damages, costs, attorneys fees,

andpenaltiesas authorizedby statute.

herein.

COUNTVII

FEDERALWARNACT

( PlaintiffsArnold, Froese, Pytlarz and Schlaikjer, Against X Corp. and Musk)

348. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege Paragraphs 1-347 above as though fully restated
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349. Atallrelevanttimes, Twitter employed more than 100 employees who inthe

aggregate worked at least 4,000 hours per week, exclusive ofhours of overtime, within the

United States.

350. Atallrelevanttimes, Twitter was an employer, as that term is defined in 29

U.S.C. 2101 (a)(1) and20 C.F.R. § 639(a).

351. Atall relevanttimes, Plaintiffs were employeesof Twitter as that term is defined

by 29 U.S.C.§2101.

Twitter orderedmass layoffs, as that term is definedby 29 U.S.C. (a)(2).

353. The mass layoffs resultedin employment losses, as that term is definedby 29

U.S.C.§2101(a)(2) for at least fifty ofTwitter's employees as well as thirty three percentof

352.

Defendant'sworkforce.

354.

355 .

Plaintiffswereterminatedby Twitter without cause, as partofthe mass layoffs.

Plaintiffsare affected employees ofDefendant,within the meaningof29

U.S.C. 2101( a) ( 5) .

356. Twitter was required by the WARN Act to give Plaintiffs at least 60 days advance

writtennoticeoftheir terminations.

357. Twitter purportedto comply with the WARNAct by informingArnold and

Pytlarz, and that they had been placed on non-working leave from November 20,2022 through

January 20,2023.

358. Twitter did notadvise Schlaikjer that he had been placed on non-working leave

during this period . Instead, they merely cut offhis access to Twitter's internal systems until they

stopped payinghim.
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359. Compliance with the WARN Act,moreover, required Twitter to provide Plaintiffs

with fullbenefits during their non-working leave and to treat them (and the other employees it

put on non-working leave ) exactly as it would have had it not provided them notice of their

impending layoff

360. Twitter failed to do so.

361. For instance,although Twitter provided its employees with annual benefits such

as wellness allowances,or learning allowances that refreshed each January, itprohibited the

Tweeps itplaced on non-working leave , including Plaintiffs, from taking advantage ofsuch

benefits.

362. Similarly, althoughTwitter provided its employees with a $2,000 annual donation

matchingbenefit, it prohibitedthe Tweeps it placed on non-working leave, including

Plaintiffs, from taking advantageofthat benefit.

363. While Twitter provided its employees with reimbursement for home wifi and cell

phone bills ,it prohibited the Tweeps it placed on non-working leave, including Plaintiffs, from

taking advantage of those benefits .

364. Indeed,Twitter specifically and expressly informed laid-off employees who

inquired about those benefits that [e]xpenses related to productivity ,wellness , phone,or wifi

expenses and learning allowance reimbursement during the Non-Working Notice period window

are not permitted .

365. Moreover, whileTwitterpoliciesallowedTweeps to submitexpense

reimbursement requests for the prior calendar year through the end of January of the succeeding

calendar year, it only permitted Tweeps placed on non-working leave to submit such expenses

through the end of November,2022.
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366. Inotherwords, Twitter repeatedly, deliberately, and expressly violatedthe

WARNAct.

367. Plaintiffs are aggrieved employees of Twitter as that term is defined in 29

U.S.C. 2104(a)(7).

368. As aresultofTwitter's violationofthe WARNAct,Plaintiffs are entitledto

damages to be provenat trial, statutory WARN Act penalties, and pre-and post-judgment

interest, costs, and attorneys fees as authorizedby statute.

herein .

369.

370.

371.

VIOLATION OF THE CALIFORNIA WARN ACT

( PlaintiffsArnold, Pytlarz, and Schlaikjer, Against X Corp. andMusk)

Plaintiffsrepeatand reallege paragraphs 1-368 above as thoughmore fully stated

COUNTVIII

Plaintiff Arnold was employed at Twitter's San Francisco, California office.

PlaintiffPytlarz worked remotely from her home, and was assigned and reported

to Twitter's San Franciscooffice.

372. As such, for WARN Act purposes, her single site ofemployment is the San

Francisco office, and she is entitled to the protections of the California WARN Act.

373. PlaintiffSchlaikjer was employed at Twitter's San Francisco office untilCOVID,

and thereafter worked remotely from his home, and was assigned and reported to Twitter's San

Franciscooffice.

374. As such, for WARN Act purposes, his single site of employment is the San

Francisco office, and he is entitled to the protections of the California Act.
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375. Given the number of Tweeps laid off in that office within the relevant timeframe ,

the California WARN Act, Cal. Labor Code 1400 et seq., required Twitter to provide Plaintiffs

Arnold, Pytlarz, and Schlaikjer with 60 days notice before it could terminate them.

376. Twitter purported to comply with the California WARN Act by informing Arnold

and Pytlarz that they had been placed on non-working leave from November 20, 2022 through

January 20,2023.

377. Twitter did not advise Schlaikjer that he had been placed on non-working leave

during this period . Instead, they merely cut offhis access to Twitter's internal systems until they

stopped paying him.

378. Compliance with the California WARN Act,moreover,required Twitter to

provide Plaintiffs with full benefits during their non-working leave and to treat them (and the

other employees it put on non-working leave ) exactly as itwould have had it not provided

them notice oftheir impending layoff.

As described above in connection with the Federal WARN Act, Twitter failed to

doso.

379.

380. Rather, as with the Federal WARN Act, Twitter repeatedly, deliberately , and

expressly violated the California .

381. As a result ofTwitter's violation of the California WARN Act , Arnold,Pytlarz,

and Schlaikjer are entitled to damages to be proven at trial, statutory WARN Act penalties , and

pre- and post-judgment interest , costs , and attorneys fees as authorized by statute.
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herein.

382.

doso.

383. Plaintiff Froese's single site of employment was Twitter's New York City office .

The New York WARN Act similarly required Twitter to provide Froese with

notice 90 days notice before it could terminate him as part of a mass layoff.

385. Twitterpurportedto comply with the New York WARNAct by placingFroese on

non-workingleave from November20, 2022 through February20,2023.

386. CompliancewiththeNewYork WARNAct, however, requiredTwitterto

provide Froese with full benefits during his non-working leave and to treat him (and the other

employees itput on non-working leave ) exactly as it would have had it notprovided him

noticeofhis impendinglayoff.

384.

387.

COUNTIX

VIOLATION OF THE NEW YORK WARN ACT

(PlaintiffFroese, Against X Corp. and Musk)

Plaintiffsrepeatand reallege paragraphs 1-381above as thoughfullyrestated

Asdescribedabov connection with the Federal WARN Act , Twitter failed to

388. Indeed, aswiththe FederalandCaliforniaWARNAct, Twitterrepeatedly

deliberately, andexpresslyviolatedthe New York WARNAct.

389. a resultofTwitter'sviolationofthe NewYork WARNAct, Froeseis entitled

to damagesto be proven at trial, statutory WARN Actpenalties, and pre- and post-judgment

interest, costs, and attorneys fees as authorizedby statute.
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herein.

WAGE THEFT

( AllPlaintiffs, AgainstAllDefendants)

390. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege paragraphs 1-389 above as though fully restated

391.

as wages

COUNT X

392. UnderNew York and California law, an employer that fails to provide an

employee with all wages due is liable not only for the unpaid amount, but also for liquidated

damages in the amount of any stolen wages .

393. UnderCalifornia law, fired employees are entitled to be paid all amounts due on

the date oftheir termination,while employees who resignare entitled to be paid all such amounts

on their finalday or, ifnot feasible,within 72 hours oftheir last day.

394. EachofNew York and Texas law likewise imposedeadlinesby which employers

mustpay employeestheir finalwages.

395. Twitter violatedeachsuchdeadline by failing, to date, to provideany ofPlaintiffs

withthe severanceto whichthey are entitled.

396. UnderCalifornia law, engaging in such wage theft triggers waiting time penalties

inthe amountof1/365th of the employee's compensation for the immediately prior year,which

are awardedfor each day of delay up to a maximumof 30 days.

397. Under California law, the definition of employer against whom Plaintiffs may

bring claims for wage theft includes not only Twitter , but X Holdings I and Musk as an

individual.

UndereachofNew York, Texas, andCalifornialaw, promisedseverancecounts
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398. As such,Twitter,X Holdings I,and Musk are jointly and severally liable for

Plaintiffs unpaid severance ,waiting time penalties , and liquidated damages , along with pre- and

post-judgment interest, costs, and attorneys fees as authorized by statute .

PENALTIESUNDERTHE CALIFORNIAPRIVATE

ATTORNEY GENERALACT FORVIOLATIONSOF CAL.

LABORCODE §§ 201-203, 226, 227.3, AND 1400 ETSEQ

(Killian and Arnold, Individually and in a Representative Capacity, Against allDefendants)

399. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege paragraphs 1-398above as though more fully stated

herein.

400. January 18,2023 ,pursuant to the California Private Attorney General Act

( PAGA ),Plaintiffs Arnold and Killian filed a notice of claim with the California Labor and

Workforce Development Agency ( LWDA ),alleging violations ofCalifornia Labor Code

201,202, and 203 (failure to provide timely final paychecks),226 and 227.3 (failure to provide

accurate finalpaystubs),and the California WARN Act.

401. The LWDA has not providednoticethat it will or will not investigatethe

identified violations .

COUNTXI

402. EachofKillianand Arnold was personally impactedby at least one ofthe

identifiedlabor code violations, includingthe failure to providetimely finalpaychecks.

403. Indeed,Twitter delayed multiple days in providingKillianwith his final

paycheck.

404. alleged above, neither Killian nor Arnold received their contractually

mandated severance wages on their final paychecks.

405. Inaddition, Arnold was personally impacted by the CaliforniaWARNAct

violations identifiedabove.
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406. Each of Killian and Arnold therefore have standing to prosecute a PAGA claim in

a representative capacity .

407. alleged above,Twitter has violated each of Sections 201,202 ,and 203 of the

California Labor Code by failing to provide timely final paychecks that included all wages owed,

including severance and 401K true-up payments due under Twitter's agreements with its

employees.

408. Twitter also violated Section 227.3 ofthe California Labor Code by failing to

provide eligible employees with their accrued vacation pay at termination .

409. Though Twitter purported to provide employees with unlimited time off, and

some employees actually received unlimited time off,vacations required manager approval and

many employees were subject to manager-imposed caps on theoretically unlimited vacation time.

410. Some managers instructed the employees they supervised to limit their vacations

to one week per quarter.

411. Other managers refused to approve more than four weeks per year.

year.

412. Other managers instructed employees to target six-to- eight weeks per year.

Other employees did not have specific vacation time targets communicated to

them,but as a practical matter were assigned too much work to take more than four weeks per

413 .

414. Under California law, and for employees whose vacation time was subject to such

informal caps, Twitter's vacation policy is treated as a limited-and-vesting vacation policy,with

each employee accruing vacation under the informal caps applicable to them.

415. As such,and for those employees,Twitter violated Section 227.3 when itdid not

include payment for any accrued butunused vacation time infinal paychecks.
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416. Twitter also violated Section 226 of the California Labor Code by providing

inaccurate paystubs to at least the employees discharged on January 4, 2023 ,whose final

paystubs did not accurately reflect their hours worked or for which they were paid.

417. alleged above, Twitter has repeatedly violated the California WARN Act.

As such,Plaintiffs are entitled to an award ofcivil penalties, costs, and attorneys

fees as set out in Section 2699 of the California Labor Code.

418.

herein.

FAMILYAND MEDICAL LEAVE ACT INTERFERENCE (29 U.S.C. 2615(a) (1) )

(PlaintiffsArnold and Schlaikjer, Against X Corp. and Musk)

Plaintiffs repeat and reallege paragraphs 1-418 above as thoughmorefully stated419.

420. Plaintiffs Arnold and Schlaikjer were eligible for the protections of the Family and

Medical Leave Act ( FMLA ).

Twitteris an employer covered under the FMLA.

Arnoldand Schlaikjer were entitled to leaveunder the FMLA; one had a new child

421.

422.

and the otherneeded to take leave to care for a familymember.

423. Arnoldand Schlaikjer each provided Twitterwith sufficient noticeoftheir intentto

takeleave.

COUNTXII

424.

425.

426.

TwitterlaidArnoldoffshortlyafter ArnoldreturnedfromFMLAleave.

TwitterlaidSchlaikjer offwhile he was on FMLAleave.

Twitterhas thus denied Arnold and Schlaikjer their right to reinstatementintheir

positions or inequivalent positions at the end of their leave.

427. Twitter hasthus interfered with Arnold and Schlaikjer's rights under the FMLA.
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428. As such,Arnold and Schlaikjer are entitled to an award ofdamages in an amountto

be calculated at trial, plus pre-and post-judgment interest, costs, attorneys fees, and penalties as

authorizedby statute.

CALIFORNIA FAMILYRIGHTSACT INTERFERENCE (Cal. Code Regs. tit. 2 ,

( b ) )

( Plaintiffs Arnold and Schlaikjer, Against X Corp. andMusk)

Plaintiffsrepeatand reallege paragraphs 1-428 above as thoughmorefully stated

herein.

429.

430.

FamilyRightsAct ( “ CFRA ) .

431.

432.

433.

take leave.

434.

435.

436.

COUNTXIII

Plaintiffs Arnold and Schlaikjer were eligible for the protections ofthe California

437.

438.

Twitteris an employer covered under the CFRA.

Arnoldand Schlaikjer were entitled to leaveunder the CFRA.

ArnoldandSchlaikjereachprovidedTwitterwithsufficientnoticeoftheirintentto

positionsorinequivalentpositionsat the endof their leave.

TwitterlaidArnoldoffshortlyafterArnoldreturnedfromCFRAleave.

TwitterlaidSchlaikjeroffwhilehe was on CFRAleave.

Twitterhasthus deniedArnoldand Schlaikjertheirright to reinstatementintheir

Twitter has thus interfered with Arnold and Schlaikjer's rights under the CFRA.

Assuch, ArnoldandSchlaikjerare entitledto an awardofdamagesinanamountto

be calculatedat trial, plus pre- and post-judgment interest, costs, attorneys fees, and penalties as

authorizedbystatute.
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herein.

439.

440.

441.

442.

family status, disability, age, and othergrounds.

443.

444.

COUNT XIV

DISCRIMINATIONUNDERCALIFORNIAFAIR

EMPLOYMENTAND HOUSINGACT, GOVERNMENT

CODE 12940, ET SEQ.

( Pytlarz and Arnold, Against all Defendants)

Plaintiffsrepeatandreallegeparagraphs1-438aboveas thoughmorefullystated

California laws bar Twitter from discriminating on the basis of race, sex, gender,

in large numbers .

2

Pytlarzis a woman, over the age of40.

Arnold is bisexual, and over the age of40.

The actions that Twitter took to layoff or fire its employees were discriminatory .

As discussed above , Twitter manufactured pretextual reasons to terminate employees

445. information and belief, Twitter's actual decision-making as to whom to include

inthe mass terminations targeted women, older employees, minorities, and employees who had

taken or scheduled family leave.

446. Twitter retained employees who were not members ofprotected groups who had

lowerperformance or seniority, orwith less qualifications, than Ptylarz.

447. Twitter retained employees who were not members ofprotected groups who had

lowerperformance or seniority, or with less qualifications, than Arnold.

448. Twitter's conduct in the mass terminations was oppressive , fraudulent , or malicious .

Plaintiffs intend to amend the instant complaint when plaintiffs have exhausted other administrative remedies

required by discrimination statutes , including but not limited to the exhaustion requirements under Title VII, 42 U.S.C.

2000e , etseq. , and the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, 29 U.S.C. 621, etseq.
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449. On information and belief, Twitter's officers ,directors , or managing agents ,

including Defendant Musk,authorized or ratified this conduct , and engaged in such oppressive ,

fraudulent , or malicious conduct themselves .

450. The decision ofwhich employees to include in the mass layoffwas made from

Twitter's California headquarters.

451. Pytlarz'ssex (female) was a substantialfactormotivatingTwitter'sdecisionto

terminatePytlarz.

452. Pytlarz'sage (over40) was a substantialfactormotivatingTwitter's decisionto

terminate Pytlarz.

453. Arnold's sexual orientation (bisexual) was a substantial factor motivating Twitter's

decision to terminate Arnold.

454. Arnold's age (over 40) was a substantial factor motivating Twitter's decision to

terminateArnold.

455. the time shewas terminated, Pytlarzreported to and was assigned to Twitter's

SanFranciscooffice.

456. Pytlarz's work involved dealing on a regular basis with California business entities

and individuals, and contracts created in the state ofCalifornia.

457. Pytlarzreceived a Noticeof Right to Sue from the CaliforniaCivil Rights

Department on May 16, 2023.

458. Arnoldreceiveda NoticeofRightto Sue fromthe CaliforniaCivilRights

Department on May 16, 2023.

459. As a resultof the foregoing,Twitter has violated California antidiscrimination laws,

and Arnold and Pytlarz are entitled to an award of compensatory and punitive damages,pre- and

post-judgment interest,costs,attorneys' fees ,and such other and further relief as is appropriate.
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PRAYERFORRELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffspray for judgment andreliefagainst Defendants as follows:

1. Forjudgment in favor of PlaintiffsandagainstDefendantswith respectto

eachofthe Counts set forthabove;

2. For compensatory and punitive damages according to proof in an amount

in excess ofthe jurisdictional requirements;

3 .

4 .

5 .

Forprejudgmentand post-judgment interest at the maximum legal rate

For costs of suit ; and

Forany other and further relief that the Court may deem just and proper.

Dated: May16, 2023 Respectfullysubmitted,

/ Joseph L. Christensen

JosephL.Christensen( #5146)
CHRISTENSEN& DOUGHERTYLLP

1000N.West Street, Suite 1200

Wilmington, Delaware19801

Tel: (302) 212-4330

joe@christensendougherty.com

Akiva Cohen (pro hac vice forthcoming)

Dylan M. Schmeyer (pro hac viceforthcoming)

Michael D.Dunford (pro hac vice forthcoming)
KAMERMAN, UNCYK , SONIKER & KLEIN P.C.

1700 Broadway , 16th Floor
New York , NY 10019

Tel: (212) 400-4930
acohen@kusklaw.com

dschmeyer@kusklaw.com
mdunford@kusklaw.com

AttorneysforPlaintiff's
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